
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Housing Services Cabinet 
Committee

Members of the Housing Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Wednesday, 12 
February 2020 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

3. Declarations of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or those, if any) in Part B in public 

5. Allocations Policy Review (Pages 7 - 24)

The report seeks approval for the review of the Council’s Housing 
Allocations Policy and the commencement of wider consultation on the 
proposed changes to the Policy.

6. Corporate Performance Report: Quarter 3 2019/20 (Pages 25 - 34)

To present the Members of Housing Services Cabinet Committee with an 
update against the Performance Management Framework, as introduced 
within the Council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Three 2019/20 (October 
to December 2019).



7. Corporate Register of Partnerships - Housing Services Cabinet Committee 
Extract 

(Pages 35 - 62)

To inform members of the Housing Services Committee of the council’s 
involvement in partnerships that are within the remit of the committee.

8. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

9. Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B
Items likely to be considered in Private

None

Members

Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Colin Caller
Dakota Dibben
Leslie Hoskins
Diane Marsh
Lyn Milner
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Housing Services Cabinet Committee

Tuesday, 12 November 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Jenny Wallace (Chair)
Cllr Christina Rolles (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Colin Caller
Dakota Dibben
Gary Harding
Leslie Hoskins
Lyn Milner
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Frank Wardle

Wale Adetoro Assistant Director (Housing Policy & Management)
Daniel Killian Assistant Director (Housing Assets)
Nicole Arthur Service Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs)
Mark Cordingley Technical Manager (Housing Repairs)
Sharon Donald Housing Strategy and Development Manager
Chris Wakeford Committee Services Officer (Minutes)

17. Apologies 

An apology for absence was received from Cllr Diane Marsh; Cllr Gary Harding appeared as 
her substitute.

18. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting of the Housing Services Cabinet Committee held on 25 
September 2019 were signed by the Chair.

19. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

20. Update on new build housing schemes 

The Housing Strategy and Development Manager provided Members with an update on new 
build housing schemes, please click the link below to view the presentation:

http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=443&MId=3238&Ver=4

Page 3 Agenda Item 2

http://democracy.gravesham.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=443&MId=3238&Ver=4


Housing Services Cabinet Committee 12.11.2019

2

The Housing Strategy and Development Manager fielded questions from the Committee and 
highlighted the following:

 The smaller developments at Barr Road, Wilberforce Way and Constable 
Road/Rembrandt Drive are GBC developments.

 The ‘Fire suppression system’ refers to a sprinkler system.
 Electric Vehicle charging wasn’t considered for the St Hilda’s Way development because 

it wasn’t part of the policy at the time but this will be considered for future developments 
as well as solar panels and alternatives to gas heating.

 Waste collection and location of bins etc. is carefully considered for new developments 
and the Council works with waste management to ensure bin stores are attractive and 
suitably located.

 Wheelchair compliant properties have anti-slip vinyl flooring, adjustable kitchens, wet 
rooms, adjustable bathroom facilities, window sill heights and plug sockets etc. are all 
taken into consideration. The Council is quite flexible in adjusting the property to suit the 
needs of the resident.

 The Council does not put any parking restrictions in place for commercial vehicles on its 
developments.

The Committee thanked Housing Strategy and Development Manager for an informative 
presentation.

21. Demonstration of the Housing Repairs Job Scheduling System 

The Service Delivery Manager (Housing Repairs) provided the Committee with a 
demonstration of the Housing Repairs Job Scheduling System called ‘Oneserve’ and 
highlighted the following:

 The Housing Repairs Team is the only completely mobile paperless workforce in the 
council.

 Oneserve allows the team to control where the operational workforce goes with a real-
time information system. There is a back office system and a mobile system.

 Oneserve includes the following facilities:

- Each appointment is linked to a schedule or rates
- Health and Safety Risk Assessment
- Van check report
- Photos records; before, during and after a job. 
- Notes can be included
- Voids can be dealt with on the system as well as compliancy programmes.
- Internal work can also be put through the system (e.g. work on civic buildings)

The Assistant Director (Housing Assets) advised that 66% of work was done in-house in 
2016 with the rest going to external contractors. This has now increased to 82/83% and with 
phase two of the recruitment process due in the New Year the Council is aiming for 90% of 
work to be in-house. 

Page 4



Housing Services Cabinet Committee 12.11.2019

3

The Assistant Director (Housing Assets) explained to the Committee that the budget for 
responsive housing repairs has reduced in recent times. Historically, the budget was set at 
£5million per year, but was always overspent. The budget over the last two years has been 
set at £4.3million. 

The Committee thanked the Housing Repairs team for all their good work and an informative 
presentation.

Close of meeting 

The meeting ended at 8.32 pm

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



Classification: Public
Key Decision: Yes

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Cabinet Committee

Date: 12 February 2020

Reporting officer: Wale Adetoro Assistant Director (Housing Policy and 
Management)

Subject: Allocations Policy Review

Purpose and summary of report: 
To seek approval for the review of the council's Housing Allocations Policy and the 
commencement of wider consultation on the proposed changes to the policy. 

The proposed changes to the housing allocation policy are to ensure that the council's policy 
reflects changes in legislation, guidance and good practice and the redraft provides a 
comprehensive housing allocation scheme which reflects how the authority will assess and 
prioritise the high demand from applicants for the limited supply of social housing, to make 
best use of the stock available and deal with urgent housing needs e.g. homelessness.

A Chartered Institute of Housing (CIH) research has identified barriers to accessing social 
housing and advocates a  person rather process based approach, which has been taken into 
account in looking at the proposed revisions to the current allocations policy. There are three 
distinct stages in a system for allocating social homes and related processes and criteria vary 
across the country and across organisations. In putting together the proposed changes, 
considerations have been given to processes in the current policy that fail to account for 
individuals’ unique circumstances and housing histories which can create unnecessary 
barriers for households most in need of social homes.

Recommendations:
 Approval of the proposed changes as detailed in appendix 2  

 Approval for commencement of wider / public consultation on the changes to the 
policy.

Background 

1.1  Each local housing authority in England and Wales is required by the Housing Act 
1996, Part 6 to have a scheme for the allocation of social housing.  Even if there is 
no statutory requirement, each local authority would, in practice, need to adopt 
arrangements for the selection of applicants for the grant of available secure or 
introductory tenancies in its own stock and for the nomination of applicants to 
registered providers, which would be mainly housing associations. 

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



2

1.2  The existing policy was introduced in 2014 to reflect the new legislation at that 
time relating to welfare reforms and the Localism Act 2011. 

1.3 The policy is deemed to be in need of a review to ensure that we continue to help 
those in greatest need of housing as well as making best use of the available 
housing stock within the Borough.

1.4   Appendix 2 provides details of the significant changes proposed, however, should 
a full version of the draft allocations policy be required, this can be provided by the 
Committee Section. 

1.5  Subject to Management Team approval, the significant changes will be presented 
to the Housing Cabinet Committee on 25 March 2020 for approval.

1.6  An important requirement of the introduction of an allocations policy is consultation 
with stakeholders which will include relevant council officers, housing association 
providers, housing support agencies, and the public.  Subject to approval by 
committee on 25 March 2020, the views of stakeholders will be sought in a 
consultation process lasting 12 weeks commencing in April 2020.

1.7  By the end of July 2020, a 28 day Notice of Key Decision will be published 
advising of the change to the current policy.

1.8  On 6 July 2020, and subject to the completion of a Data Protection Impact and 
Equality Impact Assessments being undertaken, the revised policy will be 
presented to the Housing Cabinet Committee for final approval and 
recommendation to Cabinet for adoption.

1.9  Subject to final approval, the revised policy will be presented to Cabinet on 7 
September 2020.

1.10  Following the policy being adopted, a programme of officer training will be 
implemented, with the new policy in place at the beginning of the October 2020.

      

Implications

The implications are summarised in Appendix 1

Page 8



3

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal S.167 (1) Housing Act 1996 states “Every local housing authority shall have a 
scheme (their “allocation scheme”) for determining priorities and as to the 
procedure to be followed, in allocating housing accommodation.

For this purpose, “procedure” includes all aspects of the allocation process, 
including the persons or descriptions of persons by whom decisions are to be 
taken.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

2. There will be a cost for the updating of the Locata system as well as possible 
overtime and weekend working costs for staff that will be required to update the 
system. It is anticipated that this can be covered from salary savings during the 
year. 

3. Work done to ensure the development of the allocations policy will enable us to 
avoid costly legal challenges or compensation awards by the Ombudsman which 
could significantly exceed that of the proposed expenditure.

Risk Assessment It is a statutory requirement for a local authority to have an allocations policy, and 
for that scheme to be lawful, it must comply with all associated legislation and 
codes of guidance.

Failure to have a lawful scheme will lead to legal challenges that the authority 
would not be in a position to defend.

In addition to any legal challenges that might be presented, challenges may also 
come from the Housing Ombudsman, and the Local Government Ombudsman are 
empowered to award damages to those applicants where it is satisfied that 
maladministration has taken place. 

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
N/A

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
N/A 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No The individuals that will experience an adverse impact due to the decisions 

Page 9

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


4

through this paper are not in identifiable groups for purposes of an equality 
impact assessments.

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A The draft allocation scheme will be subject to consultation and an equality 
impact assessment.

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan In line with the objectives of the Corporate Plan 2019-24 corporate objective 1 - 
People, the Housing Allocations Policy will help ensure the commitment to provide 
a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service: high quality tenant 
management experienced through a service making full use of its assets. 

Crime and Disorder The Policy will contribute to addressing crime and disorder by providing a scheme 
which recognises need in the allocation of its housing stock

Digital and website 
implications

The revised policy will be be published on the council's website

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

Provision of homes allocated via the Allocations  will ensure the safeguarding of 
children and vulnerable adults.

Page 10



5

APPENDIX 2

Housing Allocations Policy – Proposed changes

It is proposed to make a number of changes to the Council’s Housing Allocations Policy. 
Some of these will be minor changes, or are required to reflect changes in legislation and 
guidance. However, there are potentially a number of significant procedural changes which 
have been subject to an internal consultation, the results of which have been taken into 
account in the proposed changes set out in this report. Changes are proposed for the 
following:

 Definition of qualifying local connection criteria
 Sanctions for refusing an offer of social housing
 Simplification of the priority banding awarded on medical grounds
 Simplification of the priority banding awarded on overcrowding grounds
 Definition of band D priority
 Enhancement of the priority banding awarded to homeless households 
 Simplification of the priority banding awarded to under occupying tenants

Background information - Housing register comparative data

Applications
A snapshot figure of the number of live applications on the housing register in April 2019 
shows 1,610 households registered in bands A to D with 655 (41%) assessed as needing a 
1 bedroom property and 575 (36%) needing a 2 bedroom property. Demand for larger 
properties with 3 or more bedrooms is much lower.

67 applications (4%) were assessed as band A priority, with over half of these needing a 2 
bedroom property. 1,033 (64%) applications were assessed as band B or band C priority. 
Approximately one third of applications were assessed as having no housing need and 
placed in band D.

Table 1. Live applications 12.4.19 by assessed band and bed need.

Band 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5 bed Blank Total
A 26 36 3 1 1 67 (4%)
B 187 176 26 5 17 3 414 (26%)
C 215 197 135 16 55 1 619 (38%)
D 227 166 86 6 19 504 (31%)
P 2 3 1 6 (<1%)
Total 657 

(41%)
578 
(36%)

251
(16%)

27
(2%)

92 
(6%)

5 
(<1%) 1,610

A follow up snapshot of live applications on the housing register in September 2019 showed 
an increase to 1,717 households in bands A to D with similar trends in respect of property 
size requirements and priority band assessments. 

Page 11



6

Table 2. Live applications 20.9.19 by assessed band and bed need

Band 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5 bed Blank Total
A 31 55 4 0 1 91 (5%)
B 242 184 39 6 19 490 (28%)
C 234 175 149 14 53 625 (36%)
D 241 150 92 7 21 511 (30%)
P 3 0 4 0 0 3 10 (<1%)
Total 751 

(43%)
564 
(33%)

288 
(17%)

27
(2%)

94 
(5%)

3 
(<1%) 1,727

1 Bed 2 Bed 3 Bed 4 Bed 5 Bed
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

A B C D

Live applications 20.9.19 by assessed band and bed need

Applications are divided into those tenants already in social housing seeking a move to 
alternative accommodation (transfer) and those in the private sector seeking social housing 
(homeseeker).

Table 3. Live applications 20.9.19 according to applicant status

Band Transfer Homeseeker
A 36 55
B 122 368
C 165 460
D 123 388
Total 446 (26%) 1,271 (74%)

Lettings
The number of properties that become available and are advertised for applicants to place 
bids on remains relatively low compared to the demand. Details of all lets during 2018/19 are 
detailed in Table 4 below. Applicants seeking a property with 1 or 2 bedrooms make up over 
three quarters of the applicants registered for housing – a total of 1,235 applicants in April 
2019 – with just 190 properties let to this group in 2018/19.

Over 80% of all properties were let to applicants in bands A and B. Although applicants in 
band C only accounted for 9% of all lets, 20% of 3 bedroom homes were let to band C 
applicants, whilst those in band D were primarily successful in securing sheltered 
accommodation, accounting for 42% of these lets. 

Page 12



7

Table 4. Lettings between 1.4.18 to 31.3.19

Band Studio 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5 bed Sheltered Total
A 0 16 63 42 2 0 7 130 (38%)
B 6 85 15 24 3 5 15 153 (45%)
C 1 1 0 16 1 0 10 29 (9%)
D 0 2 1 0 0 0 23 26 (8%)
Total 7 

(2%)
104 
(31%)

79 
(23%)

82 
(24%)

6 
(2%)

5 
(1%)

55
(16%) 338

A follow up report of lettings between September 2018 and September 2019 showed a drop 
in the overall number of properties let during this 12 month period compared to the 2018/19 
year, but showed similar trends in respect of the priority banding of successful bidders and 
the range of property sizes available.

Table 5. Lettings between 20.9.18 and 19.9.19

Band Studio 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4 bed 5 bed Sheltered Total
A 0 30 51 31 2 1 9 124 

(42.2%)
B 5 58 12 24 5 5 12 121 

(41.2%)
C 0 2 0 15 1 0 10 28 (9.5%)
D 0 1 0 0 0 0 20 21 (7.1%)
Total 5 

(2%)
91 
(31%)

63 
(21%)

70 
(24%)

8 
(3%)

6 
(2%)

51     
(17%) 294

Studio 1 Bed 2 Bed 3 Bed 4 Bed 5 Bed Sheltered
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

A B C D

Lettings between 20.9.18 and 19.9.19

Waiting Times
It is impossible to predict how long a particular applicant will be waiting before being made 
an offer of social housing from the housing register, as this depends on the number of 
suitable properties becoming available and the number of applicants that are registered for 
housing who choose to place a bid on properties that are advertised. However, an analysis 
of properties that have been let over the preceding 12 months can provide an indication. 
Table 6 shows the waiting times for all property types for all successful bidders between 
September 2018 and September 2019, indicating that the average waiting time before being 
rehoused is currently between 10 and 24 months.

Page 13



8

Table 6. All lettings between 20.9.18 and 19.9.19

Property No of 
lets 

Longest Wait Shortest wait Average wait

Sheltered 51 11 years 5 weeks 13 months
Studio 5 15 months 8 months 11 months
1 bed 91 14 years 7 weeks 22 months
2 bed house 24 12 years 7 months 24 months
2 bed flat/maisonette 39 3 years 4 weeks 12 months
3 bed house 56 6 years 3 days 11 months
3 bed flat/maisonette 14 4 years 8 months 26 months
4 bed 8 5 years 5 months 22 months
5 bed 6 15 months 10 weeks 10 months

When the waiting time is broken down to applicants in each of the priority bands, there are 
significant differences. Tables 7 to 10 show the waiting times for applicants in Bands A to D 
respectively.

Table 7. Lettings to applicants in band A between 20.9.18 and 19.9.19

Property No of 
lets 

Longest Wait Shortest wait Average wait

Sheltered 9 10 years 7 weeks 23 months
Studio 0
1 bed 30 14 years 7 weeks 3 years
2 bed house 21 12 years 7 months 23 months
2 bed flat/maisonette 30 18 months 4 weeks 6 months
3 bed house 31 9 months 3 days 11 weeks
3 bed flat/maisonette 0
4 bed 2 6 months 5 months 5 months
5 bed 1 10 weeks 10 weeks 10 weeks

Table 8. Lettings to applicants in band B between 20.9.18 and 19.9.19

Property No of 
lets 

Longest Wait Shortest wait Average wait

Sheltered 12 17 months 5 weeks 5 months
Studio 5 15 months 8 months 11 months
1 bed 58 4 years 4 months 15 months
2 bed house 3 4 years 19 months 30 months
2 bed flat/maisonette 9 3 years 22 months 30 months
3 bed house 22 6 years 10 weeks 17 months
3 bed flat/maisonette 2 10 months 8 months 9 months
4 bed 5 5 years 14 months 29 months
5 bed 5 15 months 9 months 12 months

Table 9. Lettings to applicants in band C between 20.9.18 and 19.9.19

Property No of 
lets 

Longest Wait Shortest wait Average wait

Sheltered 10 11 years 11 weeks 25 months
Studio 0

Page 14



9

1 bed 2 13 months 11 months 12 months
2 bed house 0
2 bed flat/maisonette 0
3 bed house 3 5 years 4 years 4 years
3 bed flat/maisonette 12 4 years 13 months 29 months
4 bed 1 18 months 18 months 18 months
5 bed 0

Whilst lettings to band A to C occur across the whole range of properties, applicants in band 
D are almost exclusively offered sheltered housing properties with only one general needs 
property let to this cohort, during the 12 month period between September 2018 to 
September 2019.

Table 10. Lettings to applicants in band D between 20.9.18 and 19.9.19

Property No of 
lets 

Longest Wait Shortest wait Average wait

Sheltered 20 24 months 7 weeks 9 months
Studio 0
1 bed 1 7 months 7 months 7 months
2 bed house 0
2 bed flat/maisonette 0
3 bed house 0
3 bed flat/maisonette 0
4 bed 0
5 bed 0

Proposed changes to housing allocations policy

 Proposed change to the definition of local connection.

Currently, all applicants wishing to join the housing register are required to evidence their 
qualifying local connection in one of 3 ways:

Either – permanent residence within the borough without a break for the  preceding two 
years; or continuous employment within the borough for at least two years, or needing to live 
in the borough to give care to or receive care from a close relative who has lived in the 
borough for at least 5 years.

It is proposed to simplify this to include just the first two categories and exclude those who 
need to move here to give or receive care as a specific category as the current definition is 
very restrictive. Some applicants will still be able to register without a local connection on 
residence or employment grounds  in exceptional circumstances such as members of the 
armed forces and former service personnel or their bereaved spouses/civil partners, those at 
risk of domestic abuse, and those owed the main housing duty as a result of homelessness. 
Applicants needing to move into the borough to give or receive care will be included within 
the exceptional circumstances category, so that each case can be considered on its 
particular merits. (Table 11 shows that 12% of applications are removed due to not meeting 
these local connection criteria although it is not possible to break this down into categories)

Page 15



10

Not all applications to the housing register are successful. Some applicants do not meet the 
qualifying criteria which include having a local connection to the borough, or fail to provide 
the necessary documentary evidence that is required to verify their circumstances. In 
addition, applicants that do not place any bids for more than six months may be removed 
provided that there have been one or more suitable properties available for them to bid on. 
In 2018/19 2,096 applications were removed with a further 648 removed in the first two 
quarters of 2019/20. Table 11 shows the main reasons for removing applications from the 
housing register with non-bidding accounting for almost half of these cases and failing to 
provide evidence accounting for a further quarter.
 

Table 11. Reasons for removal from Housing Register 2018/19 and first half of 2019/20
Reason Apr-

Jun 
2018

Jul-
Sep 
2018

Oct-
Dec 
2018

Jan-
Mar 
2019

Apr-
Jun 
2019

July-
Sep 
2019

Total

Non bidder 
(Band A)

9 2 6 8 8 9 42

Non bidder 
(Band B)

12 45 96 22 34 41 250

Non bidder  
(Band C)

15 19 409 26 18 44 531

Non bidder 
(Band D)

22 19 373 57 31 32 534

All non 
bidders

58 85 884 113 91 126 1,357 
(49%)

No Local 
connection

45 48 41 74 79 36 323 
(12%)

Applicants 
request

4 10 1 1 1 7 24 
(1%)

Change of 
circumstances

7 0 9 17 16 32 81 
(3%)

Housed by 
Direct Let

4 7 10 11 6 5 43 
(2%)

Documents 
not supplied

36 242 82 190 25 147 722
(26%)

Duplicate 
application

8 14 3 1 7 9 42 
(2%)

Outstanding 
rent arrears

3 19 8 22 14 24 90 
(3%)

Other  
reasons

6 12 4 17 16 7 62
(2%)

Total 171 437 1,042 446 255 393 2,744

Policy changes following result of consultation:

Local connection criteria of continuous period of residence/employment at the time of 
application to be retained as supported by 100% (in the case of residence) and 80% 
(in the case of employment) of respondents. Period of residence/employment to be 
extended to 3 years.

A specific local connection criterion of giving or receiving care from a relative to be 
removed as this is supported by 66% of respondents. Ability for specific cases to be 
considered under exceptional circumstances/discretionary grounds to be retained. 

Page 16



11

Table 12. Length or residence required in order to qualify to join the housing register 
in Kent/SE London local authorities:

Local authority Qualifying residence criteria
Ashford 12 months
LB Bexley 5 years
LB Bromley 5 years
Canterbury 3 out of the last 5 years
Dartford 2 years
Dover 6 out of the last 12 months or 3 out of the last 5 years
Folkestone and Hythe 2 years or 3 out of the last 5 years
Maidstone 2 years
Medway 2 years
Sevenoaks 6 out of the last 12 months or 3 out of the last 5 years
Swale 4 out of the last 5 years
Thanet 3 years
Tonbridge and Malling 6 months , 6 out of the last 12 months or 3 out of the last 

5 years
Tunbridge Wells 3 years or 5 out of the last 10 years

 Proposed change to refusal sanctions

Most applicants that are successful in bidding for a property will accept it. Currently, most 
applicants are entitled to receive two offers and can refuse one property without sanction, 
with a second refusal resulting in a six month suspension from the housing register. An 
average of 18 applicants refuse a property offer each quarter, with one further applicant 
being suspended following two refusals. (Table 13) However, those who are offered a 
property to resolve their homelessness or on a discretionary/direct let basis are expected to 
accept the first property that is offered to them. Applicants seeking sheltered housing are not 
usually penalised for refusing an offer, and could theoretically refuse multiple properties 
indefinitely. 

Table 13 below shows the number of applicants that have refused one or more offers of 
accommodation.

Table13. Refusals 2018/19 and first half of 2019/20

Apr-Jun 
2018

Jul-Sep 
2018

Oct-Dec 
2018

Jan-Mar 
2019

Apr-Jun 
2019

July-Sep 
2019

Total

Applicants 
refusing

24 16 22 12 26 5 105

Applicants 
suspended

1 1 1 0 1 0 4

Policy changes following result of consultation:

Two offer policy to be removed, with all applicants entitled to receive just one offer of 
suitable accommodation regardless of status (i.e. general needs, sheltered, homeless 
cases) as supported by 88% of respondents.

Although there was strong support for the removal from the housing register for applicants 

Page 17



12

refusing a property (61% of respondents), a number of respondents felt this was too severe. 
The current penalty of 6 months suspension will be increased to 12 months as a 
compromise between making no change to current policy and outright removal from the 
housing register.

 Proposed change to the definition of medical priority

Within the current policy there are 4 categories of medical priority that can be awarded which 
equate to:

Band A – high medical priority – where the current housing is seriously affecting a member 
of the household with a life threatening condition, or has a major adverse effect on a medical 
condition which warrants emergency priority

Band B – medium medical priority – where the current housing has a major adverse effect 
on a medical condition

Band C – low medical priority – where the current housing has an adverse effect on a 
medical condition creating a particular need for a move

Band D – no medical priority

The current definitions are confusing for customers and result in a number of requests for a 
review of the banding applied to individual applicants who believe that they meet higher 
criteria. It is proposed to amend the way that medical priority is awarded to just two 
categories: Band A where there is an evidenced urgent need to move on 
medical/mobility/disability grounds and Band C where there is an evidenced 
medical/mobility/disability need for a move. The assessment process will remain the same, 
based on the impact of the current housing on the medical condition, but it is intended to 
provide greater clarity for customers, their advocates and health professionals supporting a 
move..

Please note that it is not possible to state how many applicants are currently prioritised on 
medical grounds within each band. 

Policy changes following result of consultation:

Change to two distinct categories of medical priority as this was strongly supported (76% of 
respondents), with very little support for a single category of medical priority.

Definitions for band A and band C priority on medical grounds to be clarified and all existing 
cases where band B priority has been awarded will be reassessed in line with the new 
definitions once the policy is adopted.

 Proposed change to the definition of overcrowding

Within the current policy there are 3 categories of overcrowding that can be awarded which 
equate to:

Band A – high priority – lacking two or more bedrooms in shared accommodation

Page 18



13

Band B – medium priority – lacking two or more bedrooms in self-contained accommodation 
or lacking one bedroom in shared accommodation 

Band C – low priority – lacking one bedroom in self-contained accommodation 

In practice, most families that are overcrowded but not in self-contained accommodation are 
generally sharing facilities with family members or friends so the additional priority awarded 
may not be justified. It is proposed to simplify the priority awarded on the grounds of 
overcrowding to: 

Band B where the household has two or more bedrooms fewer than they need; and

Band C where the household is lacking one bedroom

Please note that it is not possible to state how many applicants are currently prioritised on 
overcrowding grounds within each band.

Policy changes following result of consultation:

Only 36% of responders wanted to retain the current banding priorities. 
Change to two distinct categories of overcrowding based on the number of bedrooms lacking 
regardless as to whether applicants are living in self-contained or shared accommodation. 
Band C applies if the household is lacking one bedroom and band B applies where the 
current accommodation has two or more bedrooms fewer than needed.

 Proposed change to the definition of band D priority.

Currently, around one third of applicants joining the housing register are assessed as having 
no housing need and placed into band D (Tables 1 and 2). Band D applicants have no 
realistic prospect of being offered general needs social housing, with only one property let to 
this cohort between September 2018 and September 2019 (Table 5). In addition, 39% of the 
applicants removed from the housing register due to non-bidding were in band D (Table 11)

The assessment and inclusion of applicants without a verified housing need is not only 
administratively burdensome it also raises unrealistic expectations and encourages 
applicants to apply just in case they become in need of housing in the future. Should an 
applicant assessed as band D priority subsequently meet the criteria of housing need and be 
awarded band A, B or C, then their priority date would be adjusted to the date that the higher 
priority is awarded so there is no benefit to being included on the housing register where no 
housing needs have been identified.

It is therefore proposed to restrict the number of applicants in band D. Whilst the non-
inclusion of all applicants without a housing need is an option, this would remove many 
applicants who could potentially be offered sheltered housing. Between September 2018 
and September 2019, 39% of sheltered housing properties were let to applicants in band D 
(Table 10)

Although applicants in band D account for around one third of all applicants, with 
approximately half assessed as needing a 1 bedroom property, they only receive around 7% 
of all lettings, almost exclusively within the sheltered housing stock. An analysis of the age of 
applicants in band D shows that almost one third of applicants are aged over 55 with over 
90% of these seeking a one bedroom home.

Page 19



14

Table 14. Band D applicants aged over 55 as at  20.9.19
Applicant 1 bed need 2+bed need Total
Transfer 52 6 58
Homeseeker 100 9 109
Total 152 15 167

Based on the snapshot of housing register applicants in September 2019 (Table 2), potential 
options include:

 Remove all applications currently in band D – 511 households 
 Introduce a new housing need priority for ‘needing sheltered housing’ which would 

mean that an assessment as to whether an applicant is suitable for sheltered housing 
and therefore qualifies to join the housing register will need to be undertaken for all 
relevant applicants at the point of application. This could be assessed as band D 
priority.

 Allow all current social housing tenants without a housing need to remain in band D 
(removing 388 homeseekers – Table 3)

 Allow all applicants over the age of 55 without a housing need to remain in band D 
(removing 344 applicants under the age of 55 – Table 14)

Policy changes following result of consultation:

82% of responders wanted to change the current banding priorities and 63% agree with the 
removal of applicants with no housing need. 
89% of responders supported the need for sheltered housing to be recognised as a housing 
need. 

The definition of band D priority to be changed to include only those applicants assessed as 
needing sheltered housing.

 Proposed change to the priority awarded to homeless households

Under the current policy, homeless households where the Council has accepted the duty to 
rehouse are placed into band C alongside other households assessed as band C.  Table 9 
shows that only 6% of general needs properties were let to applicants in band C between 
September 2018 and September 2019. Of the 18 properties let, 15 had three bedrooms, 2 
had one bedroom and 1 had 4 bedrooms.  It is not possible to distinguish between lets to 
homeless households and lets to other band C applicants.

The majority of accepted homeless households are living in temporary accommodation 
awaiting a move into a settled home either in the private sector or social housing via the 
housing register. As at 30 September 2019, there were 80 households living in temporary 
accommodation, of which 36 require a two bedroom home.  Given the limited amount of 
social housing let to applicants in band C, particularly those with two bedrooms, (Table 9 
shows that there were no two bedroom properties let to applicants in band C between 
20.9.18 and 19.9.19), and the practical difficulties in securing an affordable home in the 
private sector, it is proposed to increase the priority awarded to accepted homeless 
households to reduce the length of time they will be living in temporary accommodation and 
better manage the limited pool of temporary accommodation properties.

Page 20



15

Policy changes following result of consultation:

60% of responders agree that the current priority banding for homeless households should 
be changed. The option to remain in band C for a period then move to band B was only 
supported by 33% of responders with the alternative of remaining in band C for a period then 
being offered a direct let supported by 27% of responders.

The option to place all homeless cases into band B from the date the duty was accepted was 
supported by 57% of responders and this option is proposed All homeless applicants will be 
entitled to a relief duty for 56 days which will be used to focus on securing alternative 
accommodation, and a rehousing duty will only be accepted once the relief duty has expired.

 Other Policy changes following result of consultation:

A number of additional comments were received, which relate to assessment and verification 
issues, rather than banding priorities. However, comments relating to how under-occupation 
is currently assessed are relevant.

All tenants wishing to downsize should be given sufficient priority on the housing register to 
achieve a move, regardless of the number of bedrooms they are giving up. In particular, two 
bedroom properties are in great demand and the current policy only provides a band B 
priority for tenants wishing to move to a one bedroom property from a two bedroom property 
whereas those downsizing from larger properties are awarded band A priority (where they 
are giving up 2 or more bedrooms).

It is therefore proposed to have a single category of under-occupation priority - band A - for 
current tenants wishing to downsize, regardless of the size of property they currently occupy.

Page 21



16

APPENDIX THREE

Project Plan – Gravesham Borough Council’s Housing Allocation Policy

Part One:  Project definition and scope

Name of the project Gravesham Borough Council – Housing Allocation Policy 
Review

Statement of purpose
 

To review the existing housing allocation policy in light of 
changes in legislation, guidance and good practice and 
redraft a comprehensive housing allocation scheme which 
reflects how the authority will assess and prioritise the high 
demand from applicants for the limited supply of social 
housing to make best use of the stock available and deal with 
urgent housing needs e.g. homelessness.  

Background Gravesham Borough Council’s current housing allocation 
policy was implemented in June 2014. Since then there has 
been additional legislation (including the Homeless Reduction 
Act) and subsequent guidance issued by the ministry for 
Housing, Communities and Local Government which states 
that local housing authorities may need to review their 
allocations schemes in order to ensure that they deliver the 
requirements of the legislation and are sufficiently geared 
towards preventing homelessness.

Key Outcomes That Gravesham Borough Council has a current detailed 
housing allocation scheme which sets out how applications 
for social housing will be assessed and prioritised.
The draft housing allocation scheme will be shared with key 
partners who will be given an opportunity to comment on the 
proposals.   
A full data protection impact assessment that ensures the 
housing allocation scheme is compliant with relevant 
equalities and data protection legislation.

Key Outputs
 

The Council has an updated Housing Allocation Scheme 

Project  Team Assistant Director of Housing (Policy & Management)
Housing Needs and Improvements Manager  
Housing Options Team Manager  
Allocations Team Leader 

Progress Reporting to Director of Housing and Operations
Management Team 
Cabinet Member for Housing 

Page 22



17

Part Two:  Delivery 

Milestone Timescale Lead Progress 

Development of 
evidence base to 
support the 
proposed changes 
to the policy 

October/November 
2019 

Housing Needs and 
Improvements Manager 

Completed 
7.11.19

Internal consultation 
on proposed 
changes 

7 – 22 November 
2019

Housing Needs and 
Improvements Manager

Completed 
29.11.19

Proposed changes 
amended/agreed 
following 
consultation 

December 2019 Assistant Director 
(Housing Policy & 
Management)
Housing Needs and 
Improvements Manager

Completed 
18.12.19

Proposed changes 
presented for MT 
consideration prior 
to consultation 

4 February 2020 Assistant Director 
(Housing Policy & 
Management) 

Completed 
28.01.20

Proposed changes 
presented to 
Housing Cabinet 
Committee for 
approval

February 2020 Assistant Director 
(Housing Policy & 
Management)

Proposed changes 
incorporated into 
draft allocation 
policy

February-March 
2020

Housing Needs and 
Improvements Manager

Formal consultation 
period (12 weeks)

April – June 2020 Housing Needs and 
Improvements Manager

Notice of key 
decision published 
by Committee 
Section

July 2020 
(date tbc)

Housing Needs and 
Improvements Manager

DPIA completed June 2020 Housing Needs and 
Improvements Manager

Revised policy 
presented to 
Management Team 

June 2020 
(date tbc)

Assistant Director 
(Housing Policy & 
Management)

Revised policy 
presented to 
Housing Services 
Cabinet Committee 
for final approval 

6 July 2020 
(date tbc)

Assistant Director 
(Housing Policy & 
Management)

Revised policy 
presented to Chief 
Executives briefing

24 August 2020
(date tbc)

Assistant Director 
(Housing Policy & 
Management)

Revised Policy 
presented to 

7 September 2020 Assistant Director 
(Housing Policy & 

Page 23



18

Cabinet for adoption Management)
Locata system 
update to reflect 
changes

September 2020 Housing Needs and 
Improvements Manager

Training for Housing 
Needs teams/ and 
wider housing team, 
procedures updated

September 2020 Housing Needs and 
Improvements Manager

Reassessment of 
existing applicants 
in line with new 
scheme

September 2020 Senior Allocations 
Officer

Revised Housing 
Allocation Policy 
Implemented 

October 2020 Housing Needs and 
Improvements Manager

Part Three:  Review

Date for Project Post Implementation Review  May 2021

Key Questions for Project Review:

To what extent were key outputs delivered?

Were there any other outputs which were delivered in addition/instead of the above?

To what extent were key outcomes met?  What is my evidence for this?

Were there any unanticipated outcomes?

What went best in the project?

What would you do differently if undertaking a similar project in the future?

Page 24



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Committee

Date: 12 February 2020

Reporting officer: Wale Adetoro - Assistant Director (Housing Policy & 
Management)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2019-20 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present the Members of Housing Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Three 2019-20 (October to December 2019).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides the Members of Housing Services 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Three 2019-20, covering the period October to 
December 2019. 

Page 25 Agenda Item 6



2

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented in tabular and graphical 
form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate either to 
those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data has not 
been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns where data 
has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next available 
reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Page 26



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to delivery its responsibilities and delivers better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which 
therefore should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning 
processes.

Risk 
Assessment

Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.   
Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 

Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Crime and 
Disorder

Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1 People.

Digital and 
website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital 
implications are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  
'PI 51: online self-help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1 People and #2: Place.

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

H O U S I N G  S E R V I C E S  
C O M M I T T E E

Performance    report 
Q  3  :  2  0  1  9  -  2  0

P
age 29



P I  16 Total number of empty private sector homes brought back into occupation

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

6 1 2

P I  17 Total number of private sector homes brought up to standard 

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

5 2 2

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Enforce a high quality of private housing: work with landlords to tackle property standards,

empty homes and homes in multiple occupation.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

The Private Sector Housing Service currently has 176 cases as of the beginning of the new year, this 

includes general service requests from single family dwellings, licensed HMOs and associated 

advisory visits, renewal licenses or those HMOs going through the licensing process for the first time. 

This increase is mainly due to the extension of the mandatory licensing scheme in October 2018, 

interest in HMOs in general and the increase of tenant complaints which naturally comes with the time 

of year.

The team prioritises all cases and those that are recognised as most important, particularly those falling 

under the mandatory HMO licensing scheme, take precedence.  New HMO licence cases have been 

found through continued proactive work across the borough, using local knowledge and experience and 

by working closely with other departments such as Planning, Council Tax and Community Safety. We 

have 48 licensed HMOs and eight applications in progress with a further 29 properties that require 

investigating for licensing.

The team continues to proactively inspect those that are already licensed, to ensure standards are 

maintained. The data held by the service, requires continuous updating as new properties are identified 

via the proactive work of the service.  

We are continuing to engage with Landlords to raise housing standards by delivering Landlord Forums, 

updated website information to reflect latest legislative changes, email signatures which deliver key 

messages for landlord support.  There is also information provided to landlords on grants available 

through the Energy Company Obligation (ECO) and the LA Flex which the Council aims to capture 

those vulnerable households in Private Sector.

0

2

4

6

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

0

2

4

6

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 30



P I  18 Average time taken to re-let council housing (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

29 23 21

O U T T U R N

The length of time it takes for DSO Building Management to bring an empty property up to a let-able 

standard is also monitored and has continued to perform consistently well this financial year. 

Whilst PI 18 is calculated across the activities of both the DSO Building Management and Housing 

services, the performance for the DSO Building Management element specifically for quarter 3 is as 

follows:

Void Category Outturn (Q3 average)

Minor (14 day target) - 6

Major (28 day target) - 23

Refurb - 47.                 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                               

When performance data is further broken down, performance continues to be consistently good for 

General Needs properties, however the department continues to experience some challenges in the re-

letting of Sheltered Housing empty properties. 

Work continues to be done to improve relet times for Sheltered Housing empty properties and this 

includes ensuring that where possible, properties are advertised as quickly as possible and applicants 

are assessed for suitability, well ahead of properties becoming available to let to them. 

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

2. Provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service: high quality tenant 

management experienced through a service making full use of its assets. 

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

15

20

25

30

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 31



P I  19 % of Disabled Facility Grant applications processed on time

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

  100%   100%   100%

P I   20 Total number of households in temporary accommodation

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

103 80 74

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

Owner occupied households and those in privately rented accommodation account for 81% of all the 

homes in the Borough.  The Local Authority has a statutory duty to administer Disabled Facilities Grant 

to ensure that properties occupied by disabled people are adapted for their needs to enable them to live 

independently in their homes. This links directly to the council’s Corporate Plan 2019-23 which, under 

strategic objective two, identifies “meeting the needs of all residents including vulnerable people” as a 

commitment. 

The objective of this performance is to ensure that the grant process is effective and reliable and to 

ensure that formal applications are not delayed and thereby avoid adverse impacts on the health of 

those residents who require adaptations and qualify for the grant. Timely processing also ensures that 

residents are able to continue living independently within their own homes.  The team has put in a place 

a quicker method of receiving and approving grants.

The number of households living in temporary accommodation has continued to fall from a peak of 111 

in April 2019 down to 73 at the end of December 2019. Of these the use of expensive nightly paid 

temporary accommodation has seen a significant decline from 44 households in April 2019 to just 13 at 

the end of Q3. Alternative housing options have been identified for eight of these households with a 

further three placements due to be ended as the rehousing duty has ended. The use of nightly paid 

accommodation is expected to continue to reduce during Q4.

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3. Safeguard residents: put in place a package of housing measures and creative interventions that

support the most vulnerable.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

30

60

90

120

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 32



P I  21 % of emergency jobs completed on time

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

100% 100% 100%

P I   22 % of council properties with valid gas safety certification

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

100% 100% 100%

#1 PEOPLE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

4. Deliver a skilled in-house building management team: progressively improve the standard and 

efficiency of local housing.

a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 
and attractive borough their home.

Performance within DSO building Management has remained consistently high in the year to date.  

Specifically within Q3, 100% of emergency jobs and 91% of non-emergency repairs were completed 

within their set target across the quarter. 

Customer satisfaction across responsive repairs is also monitored, with an average customer 

satisfaction rating of 97.33% in Q3. 

DSO Building Management have had a number of successes this financial year, including:

• DSO Building Management made it through as finalists in the Housing Heroes Awards for best 

maintenance team of the year. 

•     We significantly increased the operational workforce to take on more work in-house to reduce the 

reliance on contractors which includes planned work programmes such as new kitchens and 

bathrooms. Not only does this save the council money, but it provides a better service for our tenants. 

As an example, for kitchens completed by the in-house team up to the end of  December 2019, the 

council saved £119,000 when compared to what it would have costs should a contractor carried out the 

work.  

•     We introduced a single supplier (Grafton’s) which generates a small annual income for the service 

(£10,000) but more importantly allows the workforce to be much more efficient meaning jobs are being 

completed quicker than ever before with less follow up work required. 

•      Efficiency savings made through procurement and the introduction of new policies and processes 

allows the council to fit a carbon monoxide detector in every single council property without the need to 

increase existing budgets (£175,000). 

•      Gravesham have continued to be ahead of the game in terms of fire safety and successfully 

completed the retro fitting of Fire Sprinklers at Gravesham Court and Homemead Court with Chantry 

Court due to commence in the new financial year.

•      Introduction of the MOT style servicing of gas boilers in council housing, saving the service in the 

region of £60,000 per year whilst providing a better service for our residents. Gravesham have really 

lead the way on this, being one of the first to adopt the new servicing style following a change in 

legislation and are now advising other housing providers on how it was implemented and the 

efficiencies that can be achieved.

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 33



Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 34



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Housing Services Committee 

Date: 12th February 2020

Reporting officer: Wale Adetoro – Assistant Director 

Subject: Corporate Partnership Register 2020

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform members of the Housing Services Committee of the council’s involvement in 
partnerships that are within the remit of the committee. 

Recommendations:
1. This paper is for information purposes only 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The council is increasingly working in partnership with local organisations, groups, 
other public, private and ‘third sector’ bodies to achieve its objectives for the local 
community. Partnership working can add many benefits to the delivery of services 
by enabling the council to develop better understanding of the needs of the public 
through shared perspectives. This, in turn, can result in the avoidance of 
duplication, sharing of skills, knowledge and data, securing of additional 
resources, improved service delivery to the customer and improved customer 
satisfaction

1.2 The council has a Corporate Register of Partnerships which provides a central 
record of partnerships in which the council is involved. The register is available on 
the council website and is reviewed and updated on an annual basis; the last 
review took place in April 2019.

1.3 This year reflects the new administration and updated objectives and how the 
partnerships support the new Corporate Plan. 

2. Operational Services Committee

2.1 The current partnerships that most directly relate to the work of the Housing 
Services Committee are as follows: 

2.1.1 Energy Saving Trust Advice Centre (ESTAC) (Careline Services)

2.1.2 Gravesham Sanctuary

2.1.3 Housing Associations (Registered Providers)

Page 35 Agenda Item 7



2

2.1.4 Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership (KEEP)

2.1.5 Kent Home Choice

2.1.6 Kent Housing Group

2.1.7 Kent and Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership (KMSEP) (formerly 
Kent and Medway Green Deal Partnership)

2.1.8 Kent ‘No Use Empty’ Initiative

2.2 More detailed information regarding the partnerships overleaf is shown at 
appendix two to enable the committee to develop an understanding of these 
partnerships and the contribution they make to delivering services to the 
community. 

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 Working in Partnership Framework – April 2016

 Corporate Register of Partnerships – April 2019

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 36



3

IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications resulting from this report.  

As a requirement of the council’s Working in Partnership Framework, all potential 
partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements are formally 
considered by the Monitoring Officer to ensure that the legal aspects of proposals 
are taken into account prior to entering into a new arrangement.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Partnerships and shared working arrangements can present financial and value for 
money savings to the council. The council’s Working in Partnership Framework 
requires all potential partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements to 
be formally considered by the Section 151 Officer to ensure that the financial 
aspects of all proposals are taken into account prior to entering into a new 
partnership.

Risk Assessment Partnership working is becoming more and more prevalent in the work of the 
council and is a key factor in the efficient and effective delivery of services and 
corporate objectives. It is therefore important that the council maintains 
comprehensive information regarding the partnerships it is involved in to enable 
effective consideration of partnership working arrangements as a contribution to the 
achievement of corporate objectives

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

Corporate Plan Partnership and shared working arrangements will contribute to all of the Corporate 
Plan objectives in particular, #3 Progress by being an entrepreneurial authority 
looking at ways to be successful in managing an ever-increasing demand for our 

Page 37

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/


4

services and customer expectations on the quality we provide. 

Crime and Disorder The full Corporate Register of Partnerships includes information regarding the 
Community Safety Partnership and G-Safe.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no direct digital and website implications with this report. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The full Corporate Register of Partnerships includes information regarding the 
Children's Boards that are in operation across the council.

Page 38



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

Corporate Register of 
Partnerships and Shared 
Working Arrangements

December 2019

A summary of partnership and shared working 
arrangements 

Housing Services Committee  

Page 39



Gravesham Borough Council        - 2 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Introduction
The council maintains a comprehensive register of its partnerships and shared working arrangement that is 
reviewed on an annual basis.  

Partnerships
The council defines a partnership as “an agreement between the Council and one or more independent 
bodies to work together to achieve one or more objectives”.

In addition to this, the council also splits the partnership register into ‘Significant’ and ‘Key other partnerships’.  
In order for a partnership to be classified as significant it must meet the following definition:

“a partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £10,000 or greater or one that is 
fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective within the council’s Corporate Plan.  Without this 
effective partnership therefore, the delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals 
would not occur.”

The council is currently involved in the following partnerships:

Page Ref. Name of Partnership Significant
3 Energy Saving Trust Advice Centre (ESTAC) (Careline Services)
5 Gravesham Sanctuary 
7 Housing Associations (Registered Providers) 
9 Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership (KEEP)

11 Kent Home Choice 
13 Kent Housing Group
16 Kent and Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership (KMSEP) (formerly 

Kent and Medway Green Deal Partnership)
18 Kent ‘No Use Empty’ Initiative

Glossary of Terms (Page 20)
Throughout the document, there are a number of terms that are used and it was felt that it would be useful to 
provide a ‘Glossary of Terms’ in order to provide further clarification of some of the terminology used within the 
document.

Page 40



Gravesham Borough Council        - 3 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Name of Partnership Energy Saving Trust Advice Centre (ESTAC) (Careline Services)

Responsible Officer Dipna Pattni, Housing Partnerships Manager

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Free and impartial advice to householders on behalf of the Energy 
Saving Trust.  The partnership enables the following aims through 
energy efficiency work:
 Local grant scheme access including renewable energy;
 Promotion and referrals to Energy Company Obligation;
 Written energy advice for householders;
 Marketing services / Media relations;
 Strategic support to reduce fuel poverty both locally and nationally; 
 Project & partnership development.
Enable vulnerable households to improve the energy efficiency in the 
home to reduce/eliminate fuel poverty and reduce carbon emissions.  

Expected outcomes To reduce fuel poverty as per the Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 
(HECA) and reduce carbon emissions. 

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective #1: People 
 carbon neutral borough
 improve the local environment
 actively enforce environmental standards
Corporate Objective #2: Place 
 improve economic conditions
 develop a cohesive and resilient community

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Officer time to assist with aims listed above.

Partnership membership Kent County Council (KCC) and all Kent district councils.

Governance arrangements The governance arrangement as set out in the Business Plan and Housing 
Services Plan. To seek to provide suitable housing to meet the 
vulnerability needs within the borough. This will be through sign posting to 
The Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) funded 
organisation.  Advice and help will be provided to all residents when 
looking at energy matters, including fuel poverty, renewable and 
sustainable energy.  

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Reporting in the English Local Authority Statistics on Housing (ELASH, 
DCLG), Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 (BEIS), Chartered Institute 
of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) and local performance 
indicators.  Quarterly and annual reporting.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Performance reviewed annually with Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership 
and Gravesham Borough Council on own borough wide schemes.

Risk Assessment Not a statutory duty but is recognised as being best practice by the Energy 
Saving Trust, DCLG/BEIS and all the Kent Local Authorities including 
KCC.  Not funding risks detriment to National Indicators and Performance 
Indicators related to energy efficiency and additional burden on GBC staff 

Page 41



Gravesham Borough Council        - 4 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

to provide advice and guidance.

Safeguarding Obligations This partnership is intended to have a positive impact on the lives of 
vulnerable people by; enable vulnerable households to improve the energy 
efficiency in the home to reduce/eliminate fuel poverty and reduce carbon 
emissions.  

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

September 2009 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 42



Gravesham Borough Council        - 5 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Name of Partnership Gravesham Sanctuary 

Responsible Officer Wale Adetoro, Assistant Director (Housing Policy & Management)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing

Statutory Status Statutory – Not a statutory requirement but contributes to the council’s 
commitment to safeguard residents.

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Aim: Working together with the Charity to provide a shelter for residents 
who may not meet the threshold for statutory assistance for housing by the 
council. 
Objectives:

1) To ensure that residents in need and willing to engage are 
prevented from sleeping rough on the streets of Gravesham during 
the colder months of the year.

2) To ensure that vulnerable residents are provided with a refuge 
where their needs can be assessed and appropriate signposting 
given to assist in the process of securing permanent / secure 
accommodation. 

Expected outcomes Ensuring that rough sleepers in Gravesham willing to engage, are 
provided with a place of refuge overnight during the colder months of the 
year.

Links to GBC Strategic 
Objectives

Corporate Objective # 1 People. 
Commitment - Safeguard Residents: put in place a package of housing 
measures and creative interventions that support the most vulnerable. This 
partnership ensures that rough sleepers have a place to stay in overnight 
and during the colder months 

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

 No direct financial resource provided. 
 No specific staff resource other than the Assistant Director (Housing 

Policy & Management) being the main point of contact for matters 
relating to the partnership.

 The use of the former tenants’ hall in Longferry which is made 
available by the council to Gravesham Sanctuary for the provision of 
sleeping areas, laundry, kitchen and shower facilities. 

 Day to day maintenance and repairs for the facilities is also 
undertaken by the council at no cost to the charity.

Partnership membership Who are the formal members of the partnership (organisation level not 
specific officer level)
Assistant Director (Housing Policy & Management)
Michael Coveney – Chair of Board of Trustees

Governance arrangements  Gravesham Sanctuary CIO has a formal governance document that 
details how the charity operates on a day-to-day basis including how 
residents are dealt with and the conduct of volunteers.  This is backed 
up by formal training sessions and background checks on all involved.  

 The trustees meet every 2 months to review the project and there are 
weekly management meetings involving a trustee and the designated 
project manager to look at and deal with any issues that arise.   

 There are also regular meetings with various council officers regarding 
safeguarding and the wellbeing of vulnerable residents. 

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

 No financial reporting to the council, however the Charity works 
closely with the Council’s Housing Needs Department and there is 
a regular exchange of information as well as referral 

 The Charity has own governance arrangements and this includes 
financial reporting on activities.

Page 43



Gravesham Borough Council        - 6 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Gravesham Sanctuary maintains a database of residents they deal with 
that includes identified vulnerabilities and actions taken to help the 
resident.  They have formal interviews with those residents and try to 
ensure they are engaged with the appropriate authorities that can help 
them with housing and work.
Statistics can be produced at any time on request and a formal report is 
produced at the end of the winter shelter, which is published and made 
available to the public.

Risk Assessment Gravesham Sanctuary CIO is an independent standalone charity run by 
trustees. The Charity’s work will however support Gravesham Borough 
Council in the event of a major incident. 
A fire risk assessment of the premises used by the Charity is undertaken 
regularly to ensure that it meets required fire safety standards.
Maintenance of the services and the premises is also provided by the 
Council and this ensures that the accommodation is well maintained and 
that any risk to the council is managed.  

Safeguarding Obligations This partnership is intended to have a positive impact on the lives of 
vulnerable people by providing a safe place for vulnerable adults to sleep 
overnight during the colder months of the year. Being able to spend the 
nights in the shelter removes them from harsh weather conditions whilst 
also protecting them from being exploited or exposed to other risks that 
sleeping rough would otherwise expose them to. 

The partnership supports the council’s corporate plan commitment to put 
in place a package of housing measures and creative interventions that 
support the most vulnerable. 

Should a safeguarding issue be uncovered, Gravesham Sanctuary will 
immediately alert the council or other  relevant agencies.  All incidents are 
recorded and reviewed by the pastoral committee which are available to 
the relevant agencies on request.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

January 2019 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 44



Gravesham Borough Council        - 7 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Name of Partnership Housing Associations (Registered Providers) 

Responsible Officer Sharon Donald, Housing Strategy and Development Manager

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Delivery of affordable homes in the borough.

Expected outcomes To achieve the council’s target of 30% affordable housing on all eligible sites 
and to ensure that the mix of affordable homes provided meet housing need 
in terms of type, size and tenure. 

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate objective: #1 People 
 deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building
 provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service
 create stronger neighbourhoods and putting our customers first

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets 
etc)

Officer time.
GBC Assets:
 Gravesham BC buildings/meeting rooms are used although not on a 

permanent basis.
 Section 106 funds can also be used by the Housing Associations to help 

deliver affordable housing.

Partnership membership Abbeyfield; Affinity Sutton (now part of the Clarion Group); Amicus Horizon 
(now part of Option); Circle Anglia (now part of the Clarion Group); 
Gravesend Churches Housing Association; Hyde Housing Association; 
London & Quadrant Housing Trust; Moat; Sanctuary Housing; Town & 
Country Group.

Governance arrangements The partnership was reviewed during 2010 through the North Kent Housing 
Partnership.  Following consultation a North Kent wide protocol for working 
with affordable housing providers was agreed and signed by all existing 
affordable housing providers across North Kent.  A copy of the protocol is 
available at www.gravesham.gov.uk/housingstrategy.  New providers who 
wish to deliver affordable housing in the borough will be directed to the criteria 
set out in the protocol. 
Registered Providers are regulated by the Homes England (HE) 

Financial reporting 
arrangements and 
timeframe for reporting

The use of funds collected through S106 Planning obligations are monitored 
through a dedicated database, and at monthly budget meetings with the 
Senior Accountant.  These arrangements were developed following an 
Internal Audit review of Section 106 and Unilateral Agreements that took 
place in August 2009.  A follow up audit took place during 2009-2010.
Copies of Annual Reports and Financial Statements are regularly provided.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details 
of formal review of 
partnership arrangements.

Housing associations provide monthly updates on all new-build completions 
and lettings to the Housing Strategy and Development Section.  1-2-1 
meetings are held with representatives from partner housing associations on 
a regular basis.

Risk Assessment Although there is no formal risk assessment undertaken, Homes England 
monitor and regulate all Registered Social Landlords (Housing Associations). 
Should a partner housing association fail this could affect the council’s overall 
affordable housing target and the ability to meet housing need and our duty to 
house.

Page 45

http://www.gravesham.gov.uk/housingstrategy


Gravesham Borough Council        - 8 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Safeguarding Obligations Some of our partners provide housing for vulnerable adults in the borough, 
giving support to this client group. 
Partners providing supported housing are monitored by the DC and HE.
Partners providing supported housing will have their own safeguarding 
policies in place. Should a safeguarding issue be brought to the BC’s 
attention, it would be raised at Director level and contact made with the 
relevant partner. 

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

2004 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 46



Gravesham Borough Council        - 9 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Name of Partnership Kent Energy Efficiency Partnership (KEEP)

Responsible Officer Dipna Pattni, Housing Partnerships Manager

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing

Statutory Status Non-statutory Partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Co-ordinating a range of initiatives to cut CO2 emissions, reduce fuel 
poverty and support delivery of government environmental targets via 
partnership working through all the Kent local authorities and the Energy 
Saving Trust Advice Centre (ESTAC).
Levy funding for Kent to encourage take up of sustainable energy 
measures and to eliminate fuel poverty.

Expected outcomes To work towards the relevant government performance standards 
including the Home Energy Conservation Act 1995 (HECA).

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective #1: People 
 carbon neutral borough
 improve the local environment
Corporate Objective #2: Place 
 improve economic conditions
 develop a cohesive and resilient community

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Officer time to attend and chair bi-monthly meetings and to engage in 
future schemes with other partners.
Officer time to attend training/conference days to acknowledge guidance in 
helping the government reach its targets under the Energy Act 2011 and 
the Climate Change Act 2008.
To help develop policies/strategies for GBC and Kent. 

Partnership membership All local authorities in Kent, including Kent County Council.

Governance arrangements The governance arrangements for the partnership are set out in the group 
constitution. The purpose of the group is to improve the council’s and 
private sector housing stock through energy efficiency measures to deliver 
aims, objectives and targets identified in The Department for Business, 
Energy & Industrial Strategy (BEIS) returns. The constitution sets out:
 Each local authority will have a representative from their local authority 

who will assist in delivering energy initiatives across Kent and their 
local area;

 Regular meetings including workshops to discuss current issues, 
share ‘Best Practice’, review progress of on-going projects and 
circulate case studies where necessary;

 Encouraging working partnerships between local authorities and other 
agencies in the public, private and voluntary sectors;

 Where appropriate, assist with securing funding and services for works 
and projects within the Region;

 Taking forward new local, regional and national initiatives on issues 
relating to the purpose of the partnership; and

 Annual nomination of Chair and Secretary.

Page 47



Gravesham Borough Council        - 10 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Reporting to the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA) and The Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy 
(BEIS) and through performance indicators.  

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Annual review of partnership and constitution.

Risk Assessment Delivery of energy efficiency initiatives in Gravesham and Kent wide could 
be at risk without a delivery vehicle such as this. 
Not funding risks detriment to National Targets and Performance 
Indicators related to energy efficiency and additional burden on GBC staff 
to provide advice and guidance.

Safeguarding Obligations There is no impact anticipated with this partnership.  

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

1997 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 48



Gravesham Borough Council        - 11 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Name of Partnership Kent Home Choice

Responsible Officer Wale Adetoro, Assistant Director (Housing Policy and Management)

Lead Member (s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing 

Statutory Status Statutory – The Homelessness Act 2002

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Aim: To allow Gravesham Borough Council to abide to the 2002 Act to 
ensure that our allocation policies provide for choice wherever possible. 
Provide guidance on how the implemented choice based lettings scheme 
works.
Objectives: 
1) To meet the particulars of the “Choice Based Lettings Code of 

Guidance”.
2) Ensure we have introduced an "advertising scheme” (Choice Based 

Letting). 
3) Publish a statement in our allocation scheme about our commitment to 

offering choice to applicants wherever possible.  
4) Provides guidance on how to implement a choice based lettings 

scheme.

Expected outcomes 1) Ensure compliance with statutory obligation.
2) Provide more choice to all applicants on the housing register applying 

for housing with the authority’s area.
3) Ensure “Kent best practice” by working in partnership with other Local 

Authorities and Housing Providers to develop a Kent wide scheme.
4) Delivery of a more open, audited, allocations process to all housing 

applicants.

Links to GBC Objectives Corporate Objective: #1 People 
 safeguard residents
 put our customers first
 provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing 

service 
Gravesham Borough Council has a statutory duty, along with all other UK 
Local Authorities to observe the requirements of the Homelessness Act 
2002. 

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc.)

Financial: An initial financial development contribution of £12,000 was 
paid to the partnership in 2008.  A contribution of £18,000 is made by the 
council each year.
Human Resources: Team of three: - one Senior Allocations Officer, two 
Allocation Assistants employed full time to advertise vacancies, assess 
applications for housing, monitor the housing register, and shortlist 
applicants for nominations to housing.
Use of Buildings and resources: The Allocations Team are housed on 
the first floor of the Civic Centre and have full access to IT systems, the 
internet and telephone systems.

Partnership membership Development Members of Locata. The organisation which owns, maintains 
and develops the IT and Software system that allows Kent Home Choice 
to operate as an integrated, standalone computer database in the 
advertising of all properties, and the holding of the details of all applicants 
and histories of bids made on all council premises advertised. Also 
produces the auditing information regarding performance and value for 
money of the Kent Home Choice system. Other members include all other 
Kent Local Authorities, including Medway and Registered Providers 
operating within the county.

Page 49



Gravesham Borough Council        - 12 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Governance arrangements Locata run two independent bodies to manage and organise the Home 
Choice Scheme. The Kent scheme has its own constitution which 
provides:
 A board consisting of all Kent District Council senior officer 

representatives created to oversee and observe the observation by 
Locata of all statutory and best practice requirements of the 
Homelessness Act 2002.

 The Users Group. A combined body of all “development members” of 
Kent Home Choice. Made up of the individual Local Authorities 
running the scheme. The Group looks at, and joint works with 
technical issues such as software upgrades, failures in the IT system, 
the implementation of any additional database reports, or any practical 
failures of the Home Choice system in service provision of the stated 
aims of compliancy with the 2002 Act.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

The Allocations Team are required to provide at the middle yearly quarter 
a budgetary forecast for the costs of membership of the system for the 
next financial year. The team’s obligations are to keep the yearly cost at 
the prescribed level, avoid increases above the level of inflation and 
ensure the scheme delivers value for money.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Performance Monitoring Arrangements:
Locata provide an auditing service which provides regular fortnightly, 
monthly, quarterly and yearly statistics on the performance of the system. 
These reports detail the number of properties advertised, let and the time 
taken to let them. The number of applicants, their personal household 
details, how long on the waiting list and the amount of offers/bids they 
have made. The system also breaks down performance, regionally, by 
authority, by property type, by gender and by age.
Review of Partnership Agreements
Yearly. With a budgetary and Service review of the Locata System being 
carried out. All members are required to agree afresh the terms of the 
Service, costs, provisions and technical requirements of the system. In 
actuality these are likely to be based on any changes in legislation, fit for 
purpose, technical failures and budgetary restraints.

Risk Assessment Kent Home Choice is an independent standalone system run by the 
Locata organisation. As a “bought in” service, it has its own Business 
Continuity Plan. And will run independently of Gravesham Borough 
Council in the event of a major incident. 
Gravesham Borough Council’s Business Continuity Plan covers the 
absence of the Allocations Team in a major incident.

Safeguarding Obligations This partnership is intended to have a positive impact on the lives of 
vulnerable people by; providing more choice to all applicants on the 
housing register applying for housing within the authority’s area.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

April 2008 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 50



Gravesham Borough Council        - 13 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Name of Partnership Kent Housing Group

Responsible Officer Wale Adetoro, Assistant Director (Housing Policy and Management)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing 

Statutory Status Statutory – The Housing Act 1985, Local Government and Housing Act 
1989, Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 and The Localism Act.

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

Aim: To allow Gravesham Borough Council to abide to the above 
legislation to ensure that our policies provide/promote collaborative 
working, sharing expertise and resource to bring efficiencies to common 
areas of work, that add value to the outcomes, and produces value  for 
money  for members, residents and communities we serve. 
Aim also includes:

1) Provide strategic leadership - shaping and setting the housing 
agenda;

2) To build relationships and influence decisions for the benefit of 
Kent;

3) To draw in resources from both traditional and alternative sources;
4) To work together to improve the supply and quality of affordable 

homes; and
5) To create sustainable communities in Kent.

Objectives: 
1) Share good practice and understanding of the housing market in 

Kent and Medway;
2) Ensure there is a supply of good quality new homes to respond to 

need and existing social/affordable and private rented homes are 
managed to a high standard;

3) To develop shared practice and ways of working to increase 
consistency across the region, to improve access to services and 
standards of service delivered; and

4) To contribute the collective views of the housing sector in Kent 
and Medway to influence Central and Local Government policy 
and regulation to support our communities.

Expected outcomes 1) Ensure compliance with statutory obligation.
2) The continued delivery of key infrastructure to support

managed growth and housing delivery across the County.
3) The continued regeneration of our disadvantaged

neighbourhoods to bring them in line with more affluent parts
of the County.

4) The provision of choice and affordability in housing for the
citizens of Kent and Medway, including rural communities, which 
meets their needs and aspirations.

5) The managed improvement and retrofit of existing homes to
make them fit for now and the future.

6) To support vulnerable people in housing need to fulfil their
potential and live a high quality life through the provision of
excellent housing and support services.

Page 51



Gravesham Borough Council        - 14 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective #1: People 
 provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service
 enforce a high quality of private housing
 enforce high regulatory standards
 deliver an ambitious and diverse programme of building
 provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service
Gravesham Borough Council has a statutory duty, along with all other UK 
Local Authorities to observe the requirements of the; Housing Act 1985, 
Local Government and Housing Act 1989, Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 
and Localism Act 2011.

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

Financial: There will be an annual membership subscription to cover the 
cost of employing the Kent Partnership Manager(s) and/or other activities 
and initiatives agreed by the Group.  The administration of the KHG 
finance will be managed by a KHG member organisation, agreed by the 
group.  The current agreed sum due is £3,500 per member organisation 
per annum, KCC will pay £8,000 per annum.  
Human Resources: Assistant Director (Housing Policy & Management) 
attends three times a year Kent Housing Group meetings.
 Various sub-officer group meetings to be attended by the Housing 

Needs & Improvement Manager, Housing Partnerships Manager, 
Senior Housing Officer and Senior Environmental Health Officer 
(Private Housing).

Partnership membership The Kent Housing Group (KHG) is a forum for social housing 
organisations in Kent. KHG has representation from all twelve Kent local 
authorities, Medway Council, over sixteen housing associations and Kent 
County Council. KHG also has affiliated representation from the Homes 
and Communities Agency and when required other partner agencies.

Governance arrangements KHG has a Chair and Vice Chair, these two positions are held and rotated 
by a local authority Head of Housing and a Senior Housing representative 
from a Housing Association, the posts are held for period of two years. 
The KHG is also supported by two Partnership Managers, who work with 
the Chair and KHG members to ensure that objectives are set and 
achieved.
The Kent Housing Group also has a number of sub groups and task and 
finish groups, with representation at a number of levels from a number of 
organisations that report back to it every quarter. Each of the sub groups 
has a KHG Executive Board Member as mentor to assist the group with 
work plans and outcome. Each sub group has an elected Chair and Vice 
Chair and an agreed Terms of Reference.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

The Kent Housing Group Treasurer will be responsible for the preparation 
of an annual budget to support the work of the group and will report 
quarterly to Executive Board on the financial position. The budget will be 
agreed in January of each year and at the same time a report of the 
previous year’s budget will be made. The Kent Housing Group Budget will 
be monitored by the Executive Board on a quarterly basis.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Performance Monitoring Arrangements - In addition from time to time 
KHG will set up task and finish groups to undertake specific pieces of work 
identified by KHG and/or the Executive Board to be required to benefit the 
majority of members. These will have a clear brief on the 
outputs/outcomes required and will report to the Executive Board in the 
first instance before wider presentation to KHG.
Review of Partnership Agreements - The Chair of the Kent Housing 
Group will also Chair the KHG Executive Board and will serve a period of 
two years from election.

Page 52



Gravesham Borough Council        - 15 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Continued 
Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

The Chair will alternate between Local Authority and Housing Association 
representatives. The Vice-Chair role will also be elected every two years 
and will of necessity alternate between the Local Authority and Housing 
Association.
Elections will be held every two years at the full KHG Meeting in January 
with the Vice-Chair standing for Chair.  
All reporting will feedback ultimately to the Kent Forum.

Risk Assessment Given the nature of the KHG there may be times when issues discussed or 
actions undertaken by the Group present a conflict of interest either from a 
personal or organisational (that is the organisation with whom you are 
employed) perspective. 
All members need to be aware of this and where appropriate should 
declare any interests by advising the Chair of the meeting and where 
necessary will withdraw from consideration or decision making on a 
particular item.
No member should have any financial interest in any contract or 
transaction associated with the Group. Where one may exist that member 
should declare an interest and withdraw from the decision making process.
Members are expected to maintain confidentiality of matters discussed by 
the Group, where appropriate or needed, particularly in respect of financial 
matters or any personal disclosures made by colleagues.

Safeguarding Obligations This partnership is intended to have a positive impact on the lives of 
vulnerable people by; supporting those that are in housing need to fulfil 
their potential and live a high quality life through the provision of excellent 
housing and support services.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

April 2008 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 53



Gravesham Borough Council        - 16 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Name of Partnership Kent & Medway Sustainable Energy Partnership (KMSEP) 

Responsible Officer Wale Adetoro, Assistant Director (Housing Policy & Management)  

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing 

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

The KMSEP is an executive level group providing overall direction for the 
establishment of Energy Company Obligation (ECO) and Renewal and 
Sustainable energy for Kent and Medway. 
Its overarching purpose is to work in partnership to:
 ensure residents and businesses get a clear and consistent message 

about what ECO is and the best options available to them;
 tackle fuel poverty by drawing in as much ECO and other funding to 

Kent as possible;
 support our local network of SMEs and take advantage of economic 

growth and opportunities in the sector; and
 Reduce carbon emissions in Kent & Medway. 
The KMSEP will also work with advocacy groups such as Age UK, 
Citizens Advice Bureau, Home Improvement Agencies, Kent Fire & 
Rescue and PCTs in delivering aims from the Government’s Fuel Poverty 
Strategy, also the Kent Health and Affordable Warmth Steering Group and 
working with Public Health agencies.

Expected outcomes To work towards the Government’s targets under the Energy Act 2011 and 
the Climate Change Act 2008. Delivering at local level through the Climate 
Local Kent/Kent Environment Strategy.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective #1: People 
 carbon neutral borough
 improve the local environment
Corporate Objective #2: Place 
 improve economic conditions
 develop a cohesive and resilient community

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

 Officer time to attend: Steering Group Meetings; Project Board 
Meetings; GBC Project Delivery Group Meetings and Communications 
Meetings and any future procurement/bids.

 Engage and help deliver energy measures within the borough through 
the partnership working in the domestic sector. 

Partnership membership Gravesham Borough Council is a partner within the KMSEP.  The 
partnership comprises public, private and voluntary sector bodies including 
representation from all local authorities in Kent and Medway, NHS, water 
companies, housing associations, business networks and communities.

Governance arrangements The Partnership has agreed to work together on projects as detailed in its 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) agreement/Framework Service 
Agreement/Form of Service Contract.
To ensure consistency, the partnership’s structure will mesh with the 
existing governance structures developed to deliver strategies such as the 
Kent Environment Strategy and Kent and Medway Housing Strategy. The 
partnership will therefore include members of the Kent Environment 
Champions Group and Kent Housing Group, ultimately reporting back to 
the Kent Forum. 
A project board is set up to oversee the programme as a whole and enable 
key decision making.  Key decisions will be made through the project 
board with consultation and ratification by the partnership group as a 
whole.

Page 54



Gravesham Borough Council        - 17 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Governance arrangements
continued

Any communications, minutes and agendas from the board will be 
circulated to all partnership members and comments will be sought prior to 
meetings. Through a transparent communication network, all stakeholders 
will have the opportunity to be involved and will be able to track the 
partnership’s achievements.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Continuously, mini tendering for an ECO Financing Agreement which 
includes financing of ECO measures in homes within the GBC 
administrative area (Relevant Homes) through the Framework Agreement.  
Financial reporting will be worked through the Project Board in partnership 
with the appointed Kent Provider.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Twice yearly review of partnership and its delivery through the Project 
Board meetings.
Annual Steering Group meeting for the whole partnership co-ordination 
and delivery.
Where required extra meetings on important issues that arise.
All reporting will feedback ultimately to the Kent Forum.

Risk Assessment Identify opportunities and drivers, such as relevant targets, new HECA 
requirements, ECO eligible households, business opportunities, skills gaps 
etc.
Without affecting any of its rights or remedies, either party to the Service 
Contract may terminate it with immediate effect by giving written notice to 
the other party.

Safeguarding Obligations There is no impact anticipated with this partnership.

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

Start date of Partnership – 
20.07.2012

Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

September 2020

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 55



Gravesham Borough Council        - 18 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Name of Partnership Kent ‘No Use Empty’ Initiative

Responsible Officer Sharon Donald, New Homes Development and Strategy Manager 
Simon Doherty, Project Surveyor 

Lead Member(s) Councillor Jenny Wallace, Lead Member for Housing

Statutory Status N/A

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

To provide advice and information on empty properties including interest 
free loans to owners of empty properties to bring properties up to a 
saleable/lettable standard.

Expected outcomes  Reducing the number of empty properties in the borough and 
increasing a limited housing resource.

 Funds received from the New Homes Bonus being used for 
community improvements.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective: #1 People 
 provide a proactive, supportive and financially efficient housing service
 enforce a high quality of private housing
Corporate Objective: #2 Place
 improve economic conditions
 positively promote sustainable development

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

GBC staff resources will be varied dependent upon interest and take up of 
loans.  There is no specific budget implication for Gravesham Borough 
Council.

Partnership membership Kent County Council and Gravesham Borough Council - although a Kent-
wide partnership, the partnership agreement for provision of interest free 
loans will cover just the Gravesham area. 

Governance arrangements A contract/agreement is in place between Kent County Council and 
Gravesham Borough Council which sets out the responsibilities of each 
authority and liabilities in relation to the No Use Empty Initiative interest 
free loans.  KCC intend to issue loans to applicants referred to them by 
Gravesham Borough Council.  KCC will indemnify Gravesham Borough 
Council against all financial risk associated with the scheme and will place 
a charge on the property via Land Registry prior to the release of any 
loans.
Kent County Council has its own internal procedure, policies and decision 
making process to comply with in terms of the scheme as a whole and 
undertake the necessary checks on the title, local land charges, value of 
the land offered as security and as part of the loan process. 
Eligibility for new members to the Kent Country Council No Use Empty 
Initiative is the responsibility of Kent County Council. 

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

Loans are provided directly by Kent County Council No Use Empty 
Initiative to help owners of empty properties bring them up to a 
saleable/lettable standard.
Each loan goes through an internal risk assessment process at Kent 
County Council, which includes such things the financial standing of the 
individual or Company, adequate finance including KCC loan to complete 
project, ID checks for money laundering purposes, independent RICs 
valuation to confirm property offered is adequate security for the loan.  

Page 56



Gravesham Borough Council        - 19 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Continued Financial 
reporting arrangements and 
timeframe for reporting

The job is then monitored by GBC and KCC Officers on a regular basis to 
check progress, including on a request for additional payment of funds 
where there is a large loan and is being paid in tranches.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

On-going monitoring of active cases.  Monthly monitoring of incentive 
through Empty Property Working Group.

Risk Assessment Low risk. The initiative has been running for 10+ years with all twelve 
districts across Kent participating.  
The loans are provided by Kent No Use Empty and the partnership 
agreement will indemnify Gravesham against all financial risk that may be 
associated with the initiative.

Safeguarding Obligations The partnership can have a positive impact on owners of empty properties 
who are not able to deal with the property themselves.  This can happen 
for many reasons such as an emotional attachment to the property or 
mental health and/or physical health issues.
Where necessary, members work with other agencies to help vulnerable 
owners find an appropriate path to bringing their property back into use.  
Should a safeguarding issue be brought to the attention of members, it 
would be raised at Director level (Housing and Operations).

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

Cabinet Committee 
approval – 15 September 
2011

Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 57



Gravesham Borough Council        - 20 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Glossary of Terms
To provide assistance to officers, Members and members of the public when reading the council’s 
Corporate Register of Partnerships, a Glossary of Terms has been developed to provide additional 
information about the meaning of some of the words included within the register.

Term Used Meaning

Annual Governance 
Review

This is a review that is undertaken each year in order to assess the council’s overall 
governance arrangements.

Annual Report A comprehensive report on an organisations activities over the past year, intended 
to give shareholders and other interested people information about the 
organisation’s activities and financial performance.

Audit & Counter 
Fraud Plan

The Audit & Counter Fraud Plan is a document which sets out the work plan for the 
team for the forthcoming financial year.

BAME communities Black Asian Minority Ethnic communities

BEIS Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy - the UK Government 
department responsible for business, industrial strategy, science, innovation, 
energy, and climate change

Business Continuity 
Plan

A plan that sets out how an organisation will respond and manage business 
disruption in case of unforeseen events.

Business Plan A business plan is a formal statement of a set of business goals, the reasons they 
are believed attainable, and the plan for reaching those goals.

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) is the local statutory body responsible for the 
commissioning of certain clinical health services for patients registered with local 
GP’s. Locally, the CCG is responsible across the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley 
areas.

CCTV Closed-circuit television (CCTV) is the use of video cameras to transmit a signal to a 
specific place, on a limited set of monitors; it is not openly transmitted

CIPFA The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) - the 
professional body for people in public finance.

Children Act 2004 The Children Act 2004 (c 31) is an Act of the Parliament of the United Kingdom.  It is 
the basis for most official administration considered helpful to children, notably 
bringing all local government functions of children's welfare and education under the 
statutory authority of local Directors of Children's Services.

Choices Choices (previously known as North Kent Women's Aid) was established in 1996 
and exists to provide help to Women and Children across North Kent who are 
experiencing domestic abuse.  

Climate Change Act 
2008

The Climate Change Act 2008 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament which aims to 
enable the United Kingdom to become a low-carbon economy and gives ministers 
powers to introduce the measures necessary to achieve a range of greenhouse gas 
reduction targets.

Code of Practice Written guidelines issued by the partnership to its members to help them comply 
with the standards expected of the partnership.

Cohesion Plus The aim of Cohesion Plus is to promote positive community relations in Kent, 
bringing communities together through the arts, public education and sport.

Page 58



Gravesham Borough Council        - 21 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Term Used Meaning

Community Safety 
Fund

Formerly the Safer and Stronger Communities Fund.  Introduced for all Local 
Authorities in England in April 2005, the fund brings together central government 
(including Home Office) funding streams aimed at tackling crime, anti-social 
behaviour and drugs, empowering communities and improving the condition of 
streets and public spaces, prioritising the most disadvantaged neighbourhoods.

Community Safety 
Plan

A plan that outlines how the partnership aim to address the five key priorities for the 
Gravesham area.

Company Limited by 
Guarantee

An alternative type of corporation used primarily for non-profit organisations that 
require a legal framework.  

Constitution A document which sets out the fundamental rules governing the conduct of the 
partnership.  It may also include details of the concept and structure of the 
partnership.

Corporate Plan A document which sets out Gravesham Borough Council’s corporate priorities for a 
period of years and provides details of the actions to be undertaken towards 
achieving those objectives.

CROW Act The Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 normally gives a public right of access 
to land mapped as 'open country' (mountain, moor, heath and down) or registered 
common land. These areas are known as 'open access land'.

CVSNWK Council for Voluntary Services North West Kent

DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) - the UK Government 
department responsible for setting policy on supporting local government; 
communities and neighbourhoods; regeneration; housing; planning, building and the 
environment; and fire.

DEFRA Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) – the UK government 
department responsible for policy and regulations on environmental, food and rural 
issues.

EHO Environmental Health Officer

Emissions Inventory An emission inventory is an account of the amount of pollutants discharged into the 
atmosphere within the area.  

Energy Act 2011 The Energy Act 2011 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament setting out three key 
principles: tackling barriers to investment in energy efficiency; enhancing energy 
security; and enabling investment in low carbon energy supplies.

Energy Company 
Obligation

The Energy Company Obligation (ECO) is a government energy efficiency scheme 
in Great Britain to help reduce carbon emissions and tackle fuel poverty.

Energy Saving Trust The Energy Saving Trust is the UK's leading impartial organisation helping people 
save energy and reduce carbon emissions by providing free, impartial advice and 
information to help people across the UK to find the best ways to save energy, 
conserve water and reduce waste.

Environment Act 
1995

The Environment Act 1995 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament which created a 
number of new agencies and set new standards for environmental management.

Financial Conduct 
Authority

The Financial Conduct Authority is the conduct regulator for 56,000 financial 
services firms and financial markets in the UK and the prudential regulator for over 
18,000 of those firms.

Page 59



Gravesham Borough Council        - 22 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Term Used Meaning

FTE Full-time Equivalent (FTE) – the number of full-time equivalent staff that are working 
in the partnership.

HCA The Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) is the national housing and 
regeneration delivery agency for England.

Health & Social Care 
Act 2012

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 (c 7) is an Act of the Parliament of the United 
Kingdom and sets out the reorganisation of the NHS in the UK.

Home Energy 
Conservation Act 
1995 (HECA)

An Act to make provision for the drawing up of local energy conservation reports in 
relation to residential accommodation, placing a duty on local authorities to complete 
this for council housing stock.

Homelessness Act 
2002

An Act to make further provision about the functions of local housing authorities 
relating to homelessness and the allocation of housing accommodation.

Home Office The Homes Office is the lead government department for immigration, passports, 
counter-terrorism, policing, drugs and crime.

Housing Act 1985 The Housing Act 1985 is a British Act of Parliament. The act introduced laws relating 
to the succession of Council Houses. It also facilitated the transfer of council 
housing to not-for-profit housing associations

ICO Information Commissioner’s Office

ICT Information Communications Technology (ICT).

Jobcentre Plus Jobcentre Plus is an executive agency of the Department for Work and Pensions. It 
is responsible for assisting people of working age find jobs through its network of 
Jobcentre Plus offices. It is also responsible for administering some benefits for 
people of working age and for the administration of National Insurance numbers.

Kent Waste Strategy A sustainable household waste management strategy that sets out how the Kent 
Waste Partnership will manage Kent’s waste over the next 20 years (Strategy 
approved in 2007).

Landlord and Tenant 
Act 1985

The Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 (c 70) is a UK Act of Parliament on English land 
law. It sets bare minimum standards in tenants' rights against their landlords.

Local Government 
Act 1972

An Act of Parliament in the United Kingdom that makes provision with respect to 
local government and the functions of local authorities in England and Wales.

Local Government 
Act 2000

An Act to make provision with respect to the functions and procedures of local 
authorities and provision with respect to local authority elections; to make provision 
with respect to grants and housing benefit in respect of certain welfare services; to 
amend section 29 of the Children Act 1989; and for connected purposes.

LGA Local Government Association. A politically-led, cross-party organisation that works 
on behalf of councils to ensure local government has a strong, credible voice with 
national government.

Localism Act 2011 An Act to make provision about the functions and procedures of local and certain 
other authorities; to enable the recovery of financial sanctions imposed by the Court 
of Justice of the European Union on the United Kingdom from local and public 
authorities; to make provision about local government finance; to make provision 
about town and country planning, the Community Infrastructure Levy and the 
authorisation of nationally significant infrastructure projects; to make provision about 
social and other housing; and for other connected purposes.

Page 60

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Act_of_Parliament
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Act_of_Parliament
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Community_Infrastructure_Levy


Gravesham Borough Council        - 23 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Term Used Meaning

Memorandum of 
Understanding/ 
Agreement (MOU) 

A written document describing the roles and responsibilities of two (or more) parties 
on a particular venture.  An MOU is less formal than a contract, but is often signed 
by the parties involved to indicate their agreement to the principles contained in the 
MOU.  A MOU is sometimes a precursor to a formal agreement.

NACAB National Association of Citizens' Advice Bureaux

National Air Quality 
Strategy

The National Air Quality Strategy (NAQS) was established as part of the UK 
Government’s 1995 Strategic Policy for Air Quality Management. It uses health 
based standards as a framework to control the levels of seven designated air 
pollutants of seven air pollutants that are known to have adverse health effects.

Naturally Active 
Programme

The Naturally Active Programme utilises Big Lottery Funding and the project covers 
the areas of Dartford, Gravesham, Sevenoaks and Bexley.  It is able to support 
groups and organisations to access the surrounding countryside through a variety of 
outdoor activities such as improving a green space, wildlife photography and 
outdoor sports.

New Homes Bonus The “New Homes Bonus” is a Government scheme which is aimed at encouraging 
local authorities to grant planning permissions for the building of new houses, in 
return for additional revenue.

Partnership 
Agreement

An agreement between the relevant partners setting out how the partnership will 
operate and the commitment each will make to the partnership.

Prince2 This is a project management method which covers the management, control and 
organisation of a project.

Police Crime 
Commissioner

Police and crime commissioner will be elected to ensure the policing needs of their 
communities are met as effectively as possible, bringing communities closer to the 
police, building confidence in the system and restoring trust

Police and Justice 
Act 2006

An act extending police powers and granting the Home Office greater control over 
operational policing.

Radionet A system of radio stations operating with each other in order to ensure fast 
communication across a wide ranging area

Registered Social 
Landlord 

Registered Social Landlords (RSL) are government-funded not-for-profit 
organisations that provide affordable housing. They include housing associations, 
trusts and cooperatives.  They work with local authorities to provide homes for 
people meeting the affordable homes criteria.  As well as developing land and 
building homes, RSLs undertake a landlord function by maintaining properties and 
collecting rent.

S151 
Responsibilities

These are the statutory responsibilities that are designated to the council’s Chief 
Financial Officer, as defined by the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 
Accountancy (CIPFA).

Section 106 Section 106 (S106) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows a local 
planning authority (LPA) to enter into a legally-binding agreement or planning 
obligation with a landowner in association with the granting of planning permission. 
The obligation is termed a Section 106 Agreement.  They are increasingly used to 
support the provision of services and infrastructure, such as highways, recreational 
facilities, education, health and affordable housing.

Service Level 
Agreement (SLA)

A document which is agreed between the partners and records a common 
understanding about services, priorities and responsibilities and clearly defines the 
"level of service" expected through targets etc.

Page 61



Gravesham Borough Council        - 24 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Term Used Meaning

Shared Service 
Agreement

This is a document which is signed by those authorities participating in a share 
service and sets out the governance arrangements fort the shared service.

Significant 
partnership

A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £10,000 or greater or 
one that is fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective within the council’s 
Corporate Plan.  Without this effective partnership therefore, the delivery of 
Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals would not occur.

SMEs Small and Medium Enterprise – a small or medium sized independent business that 
is managed by its owner or part-owners and has a small market share.

Steering Group A steering group is a group of senior officers/partners who oversee the delivery of a 
project or partnership initiative.

Strategic 
Assessment

Under the Police and Justice Act (2006), Crime and Disorder Reduction 
Partnerships (CDRP) are required to produce an annual strategic assessment which 
identifies the priorities they will tackle over the next 3 years.

Talking the Walk Talking the Walk provides audio tours which aim to enhance the visitor experience 
and preserve the town's heritage.  Tours have been produced for the Riverside, New 
Tavern Fort and Milton Chantry

Terms of Reference A document which describes the purpose and structure of a partnership along with 
basis for making future decisions and for confirming or developing a common 
understanding of the scope among stakeholders.

TUPE Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) Regulations – the United 
Kingdom's implementation of the European Union Business Transfers Directive, 
protecting employees whose business is being transferred to another business.

Unilateral Agreement An agreement in which one party makes a promise, but the other side does not 
promise anything.  Examples of these are offering rewards for the return of lost 
property.

VAWG Violence Against Women and Girls. The United Nations defines this as: “Any act of 
gender-based violence that results in, or is likely to result in, physical, sexual or 
psychological harm or suffering to women, including threats of such acts, coercion or 
arbitrary deprivation of liberty, whether occurring in public or in private life”. It 
includes; sexual violence, sexual harassment and bullying, stalking, trafficking, 
domestic abuse, female genital mutilation, forced marriage.

Page 62

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_Kingdom
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/United_Kingdom
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/European_Union
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Business_Transfers_Directive

	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Allocations Policy Review
	6 Corporate Performance Report: Quarter 3 2019/20
	2. Appendix 2 - Housing Portfolio - Q3 2019-20

	7 Corporate Register of Partnerships - Housing Services Cabinet Committee Extract
	2. Housing Services Extract - Corporate Register of Partnerships




